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Predatory For-Profit Schools Project

• Help students make informed choices 
about their post-secondary options.

• Expose deceptive and abusive tactics 
common in the for-profit school industry.
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What is a “For-Profit School”?

• “For-Profit Schools”: goal is maximizing $$$ 
for owners/investors.

• Range from large universities owned by 
Wall-Street firms to small trade schools.  
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For-Profit Schools Target Veterans and 
Active Duty Military

•90/10 Rule (10% of revenue must 
come from sources other than Title IV 
financial aid)

•Big Loophole: G.I. Bill benefits and 
Tuition Assistance count as private 
$$$, not as federal funds.
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For-Profit Schools Target Veterans 
and Active-Duty Military

• Between 2006 and 2010, VA and DoD education benefits 
received by 20 largest for-profit education companies 
increased from $66.6M to approx. $521.2M, an increase 
of 683%. 

• Source: S. Comm. on Health, Educ., Labor, & Pensions, 111th Cong., 
Benefitting Whom? For-Profit Education Companies and the Growth of 
Military Educational Benefits (Dec. 8, 2010)
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For-Profit Schools Target Veterans 
and Active-Duty Military

• As of 2012, for-profit colleges received the largest share 
of military educational benefit programs: 37% of Post-9/11 
GI Bill benefits and 50% of DoD Tuition Assistance 
benefits.

• Source: S. Comm. on Health, Educ., Labor & Pensions, For Profit Higher 
Education: The Failure to Safeguard the Federal Investment and Ensure 
Student Success (July 30, 2012) (Senate 2012).
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For-Profit Schools Target Veterans and 
Active-Duty Military

• As of 2014, 8 of the top 10 recipients of Post-9/11 G.I. Bill $$$ 
are large, publicly-traded companies that operate for-profit 
colleges.

• While general student enrollment decreased at each of the 
eight top for-profit Post-9/11 G.I. Bill beneficiaries, their 
enrollment of veterans increased during the same period from 
61% to as much as 657%.

• Source: S. Comm. on Health, Educ., Labor & Pensions, Is the New G.I. Bill 
Working? For-Profit Colleges Increasing Veteran Enrollment and Federal 
Funds (July 30, 2014) (Senate 2014). 
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Problems With For-Profit Schools

• High Cost

• Student Debt

• Default Rates

• Dropout Rates

• Deceptive and Predatory Tactics

• More $$ spent on recruitment than 
services.
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For-Profit Schools Cost More

Avg. yearly cost to attend a for-profit school is twice 
as much as avg cost to attend a public college. 

• Source: Senate 2014 (2012-2013 data).
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High Dropout Rates
• Up to 60% of total students enrolled in for-profit 
schools receiving largest GI Bill benefit $$$ left 
within 1 year w/o degree or diploma.

• U. of Phoenix’s withdrawal data from 2012-2013: 
• 50.3% of Bachelor’s degree students;    
66.4% of Associate’s degree students.

• Source: Senate 2014.
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Higher Student Loan Default Rate

• Students at for-profit schools = only 13% of 
US total post-secondary education students 

• But they account for nearly half of all 
student-loan defaults (44%) nationally.

• For-profit school loan defaults are almost 4-
times higher than community colleges.

• Source: Senate 2012.
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Loan Repayment Rates at NC For-Profits     
Are Worse than Public/Private Schools
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Investigations/Actions Re: For-Profit Schools’ 
Marketing & Recruiting Practices

As of 2014 Senate Report, 7 of 8 for-profit schools receiving most GI Bill $$$ were being 
investigated by state AGs and/or fed agencies for deceptive and misleading recruiting.

Examples:
• Corinthian Colleges (Everest, Heald, Wyotech): formerly 2nd-largest for-profit school 

company closed and filed bankruptcy during pendency of investigation by more than 20 
state AGs, the SEC, the U.S. Dept. of Justice, and lawsuits by the Calif. AG and CFPB, 
relating to school’s job placement data and recruiting practices, among other matters;

• Career Education Corp. (Colorado Technical University, Le Cordon Bleu) is 
currently being investigated by more than 21 state AGs and the FTC for potential 
violations relating to school’s recruitment practices, graduation data, certification and 
licensing data, among other matters.  See Career Ed. Corp. 10-Q, filed 8-3-2016.

• ITT has recently been barred by U.S. Dept. of Ed from enrolling new students. ITT was 
also sued by CFPB and the Mass. AG and is currently being investigated by a group of 
18 state AGs regarding ITT’s marketing/advertising, recruitment and admissions, 
financial aid, job placement rates, licensure, student lending activities, among other 
matters.  See ITT Educational Group 10-Q, filed 7-29-2016.

• University of Phoenix: largest for-profit school company was placed on 3-month 
probation by DoD for review of potential violations, including use of military seals in 
marketing without permission and improper recruiting on military bases.  UoP is 
currently being investigated by several state AGs and the FTC for potential 
unfair/deceptive practices.  See Apollo Group 10-Q, filed 7-8-2016.
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Actions by NC AG Against For-Profits

• EDMC (The Art Institutes): State of NC, along with other state AGs, sued EDMC 
alleging violations of Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act. NC students who 
attended Art Institutes received $4.1M in debt forgiveness. 

• North Carolina Medical Institute: NC AG sued nursing training school alleging that it 
was offering a number of unlicensed programs and fraudulently placing nursing 
assistants on the state-approved list. Trial is scheduled for this fall.

• Thomas Healthcare (unlicensed nursing school): NC AG sued THC claiming it 
misled consumers by operating an unlicensed for-profit nursing school in violation of 
NCGS 75-1.1 et seq. Court entered consent judgment ordering consumer refunds and 
preventing the defendant from operating an unlicensed nursing program in the future. 

• Kaplan College (dental assistant training program): In 2012, as a result of 
investigation by NC AG, Kaplan closed the program.

• GIBill.com: NC AG, along with AGs from 19 other states, sued website claiming it 
masqueraded as official military website but really steered veterans to for-profit 
schools.  The owner of the website agreed to turn it over to the VA and paid $2.5M to 
settle the consumer protection claims.
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Principles of Excellence
• On April 27, 2012, Pres. Obama signed Executive Order 13607 

establishing Principles of Excellence.

• POEs apply to educational institutions receiving funding from 
Federal military and veterans educational benefits programs, 
including benefits programs provided by the Post-9/11 GI Bill 
and the Tuition Assistance Program. 

• Goals: (1) ensure that educational institutions provide 
meaningful information to service members, veterans, spouses, 
and other family members about the financial cost and quality 
of educational institutions; (2) prevent abusive and deceptive 
recruiting practices that target the recipients of Federal military 
and veterans educational benefits.

• No private right of action—centralized complaint database:    
VA GI Bill Feedback System 
(http://www.benefits.va.gov/gibill/feedback.asp)
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Common Complaints from Veterans 
About For-Profit Schools

• Told that GI Bill benefits would fully cover cost but had to 
take out student loans;

• Told by recruiter that school was accredited and credits 
would transfer but later learned not true;

• Told by recruiter would be able to get “great job” once got 
degree but unable to do so after graduation;

• Difficulty obtaining help from staff when problems 
occurred;

• Given passing grades even though did not understand 
coursework.
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Avoiding “Educational Malpractice” Claim

“Educational malpractice”: 

Claim based on the general quality of education
provided by the school (e.g., “I didn’t learn 
anything.”).

NC and most other courts reject such claims.
Ryan v. UNC Hospitals, 128 NC App 300, 301-302 (1998), cert granted, 348 
N.C. 501, and appeal dismissed, 349 N.C. 349 (1998); Ross v. Creighton Univ., 
957 F.2d 410, 415 (7th Cir. 1992) (explaining policy reasons and citing cases); 
Alsides v. Brown Inst. Ltd. 592 N.W.2d 468, 472 (Minn. App. 1999) (collecting 
cases).
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Viable Claims: Breach of Contract
• Breach of contract: claim based on failure to 
provide specifically promised educational services.

“‘To state a claim for breach of contract, the plaintiff must do more 
than simply allege that the education was not good enough.’ 
Instead, he must point to an identifiable contractual promise that 
the University failed to honor.” 

Ryan v. Univ. of N. Carolina Hosps., 128 N.C. App. 300, 302, 494 
S.E.2d 789, 791 (1998) (reversing motion to dismiss) (quoting 
Ross v. Creighton Univ., 957 F.2d 410, 417 (7th Cir.1992)). 

• See also Alsides v. Brown Inst. Ltd. 592 N.W.2d 468, 472-473 (Minn. 
App. 1999); Jamieson v. Vatterotti Ed Centers, 259 F.R.D. 529 (D. Kan. 
2009); Makaeff v Trump Univ., 2010 WL 3988684 (S.D. Cal. 2010) 
(denying motion to dismiss class claim for breach of contract and 
distinguishing from “educational malpractice”). 
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Breach of Contract cont.
• Review enrollment application, school catalog and/or 

handbook, and other documents that make up the 
contractual agreement* for specific promises.  

• Ask client about oral promises made during the 
recruitment process.

• Examples of potential material breaches: 
• failing to provide promised hours, degrees; 
• failing to provide promised internships; 
• failing to provide necessary equipment or instructors.  

*Alsides v. Brown Inst., Ltd., 592 N.W.2d 468, 472 (Minn. App. 1999) (“The basic relationship between 
a student and an educational institution is contractual in nature. The catalogs, bulletins, circulars, and 
institution regulations given to the student form part of the contract.”) (quoting Ross v. Creighton Univ., 
957 F.2d 410, 417 (7th Cir.1992)).
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Viable Claims – Fraud
• Claim that school knowingly made materially false 

representations that induced students to enroll.

• E.g., Culinary school represented that degree would enable student to 
immediately find work as pastry chef.  School possessed data showing 
that graduates, if they find work, obtained only entry-level jobs they 
would qualify for even without the degree. 

• E.g. Claim by plaintiffs who attended Trump U. that the school 
misrepresented that plaintiffs would receive a “complete real estate 
education,” a “one-year apprenticeship,” instructors and mentors 
“hand-picked by Donald Trump,” “practical real estate techniques and 
contracts,” etc. See Makaeff v Trump Univ., 2010 WL 3988684 at *3 
(S.D. Cal. 2010) (distinguishing such misrepresentations from 
“educational malpractice” but holding that claims needed to be alleged 
with particularity).
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Viable Claims -- Fraud
• Sources of false representations:

• Advertising
• School employees and agents (recruiters, admissions, etc.)

• Potentially actionable false representations:
• Inflating job placement rates;
• Misrepresenting other outcomes, including that program will prepare 

student for certification or state licensing exam;
• Misrepresenting access to “hands on” training or equipment;
• Misrepresenting affiliation (e.g., using official seals of military without 

permission);
• Misrepresenting accreditation status of program.

• See Blake v CEC, 2009 WL 2567011 (ED Mo., Aug. 8, 2009) 
(distinguishing misrepresentations from “educational malpractice” )
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Viable Claims: NC UDAP
• Unfair or Deceptive Acts or Practices:

• Potential Examples include:

• Misrepresenting that a degree from the University would qualify students for 
licensure in their chosen field, when that was not true.

• Misrepresenting or inflating job placement data. 

• Pressuring enrollment advisors to employ a series of tactics, including making 
misrepresentations and concealing material information, to induce students to begin 
enrollment and to remain enrolled. 

• Making allegedly false statements re: provision of educational support services 
made to student with learning disability to induce him to enroll.

• Per se violations of state or federal law requirements

• See Elmendorf v. Duke Univ. 2015 WL 4094175 (MDNC July 7, 2015) (overruling 
motion to dismiss unfair or deceptive trade practices claim and distinguishing claim 
from “educational malpractice”) (citing cases); 

• Supplee v. Miller–Motte Bus. Coll., Inc., 768 S.E.2d 582 (N.C.Ct.App.2015)(court did 
not address issue directly, but assumed UDAP claim viable re representations and 
conduct in school admissions process, but finding insufficient evidence regarding 
necessary factors).
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Other Potential Claims/Actions
• Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO), 18 

U.S.C. §§ 1961–1968. See, e.g., Rosario v. Livaditis, 963 F.2d 1013, 1016 (7th 
Cir. 1992) (affirming class certification and jury verdict for violation of RICO, remanding 
for damages); Gonzalez v. N. Am. Coll. of Louisiana, Inc., 700 F. Supp. 362, 365 (S.D. 
Tex. 1988) (denying motion to dismiss students’ RICO claim).

• False Claim Act (Qui-Tam), 31 U.S.C. § 3729–3733. See, e.g., 
https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/profit-college-company-pay-955-million-settle-claims-
illegal-recruiting-consumer-fraud-and (U.S. DOJ press release re: settlement of False 
Claim Act lawsuits brought by individual whistleblowers  involving allegations of 
improper incentive payments to recruiters in violation of Higher Education Act).

• Violations of FTC Guides for Private Vocational and Distance 
Education Schools, 16 C.F.R. §§ 254.0–254.7. (No private right of 
action but possible support for state UDAP claim).

• Equal Credit Opportunity Act (ECOA), 15 U.S.C. 1691, et seq.
Discrimination (reverse redlining) claims based on targeting African-
Americans or Latinos with predatory education scheme. See, e.g., 
Anderson v. Virginia Coll., LLC, 2012 WL 4052198 (S.D. Miss. Sept. 13, 2012) 
(granting motion to compel arbitration of plaintiffs’ ECOA claims).
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Defenses Raised by For-Profit Schools

• Re-styling claims as “educational malpractice.”

• Oral misrepresentations/promises contrary to writings

(e.g. Enrollment agreement or catalog provided to 
student during enrollment often include disclaimers)

• Are statements misleading to “reasonable consumer”?

• Diligence (student failed to review publicly available data 
re: earnings, placement rates, etc.)

• Student responsibility for unfavorable outcome (failure to 
use career services; vigorous pursuit of employment, etc.)

• Statutes of Limitation
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Roadblocks to Suing For-Profit Schools

• Mandatory arbitration clauses
• For-profit schools have routinely required students to sign binding 

arbitration clauses during the enrollment process.

• University of Phoenix and DeVry recently announced that they will 
stop forcing enrollees to sign arbitration clauses going forward.

• Closure/bankruptcy of school

• Difficulty in Obtaining Class Certification 
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Student Loans

•Difficult to discharge student-loan debt 
in bankruptcy.  
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Collections and Federal Student Loans

COLLECTION PROCESS
• Dept. of Ed. refers defaulted loans to private collection agencies 

(PCAs).

• Substantial collection fees are added to loan balance.

POWERFUL COLLECTION TOOLS
• Federal Offset Program (federal tax offset, federal benefits offset) 

• Administrative Wage Garnishment (20 U.S.C. § 1095a(a))
• Collection agency’s failure to provide notice/hearing before ordering 

employer to withhold wages may violate FDCPA or state UDAP.  Cliff v. 
Payco Gen. Am. Credits, Inc., 363 F.3d 1113 (11th Cir. 2004).

• As a result of these tools, collection lawsuits are uncommon 
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Relief From Federal Student Loans
Discharges per Higher Ed Act (HEA), 20 U.S.C. § 1087(c): 

• Total & Permanent Disability for Veterans (34 C.F.R. §
685.213(c)): requires documentation from VA that veteran 
is “unemployable due to service-connected disability”;

• Closed School (34 C.F.R. § 685.214);

• False Certification (ATB, forgery, identity theft) (34 C.F.R. 
§ 685.215);

• Unpaid Refund (34 C.F.R. § 685.216).

Borrower Defense-to-Repayment (20 U.S.C. § 1087(e)(h); 34 
C.F.R. 685.206(c); language of Master Promissory Note): 

• Wrongdoing of for-profit school can be asserted as a defense to 
collections, including AWG and tax offsets;

• May also be raised affirmatively, though procedures are still 
being formulated.
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Collections and Private Student Loans
Differences b/n Collections of Private vs. Federal Loans:

• No garnishment, no offset of taxes/benefits

• No statutory discharges or repayment plans

• Potentially more flexibility to settle/cancel debt
• If for-profit school loaned $$$ itself, it may be willing to cancel 

debt to avoid/settle litigation (particularly against veteran).

Defenses to Collection Actions:
• Statutes of limitation (NOTE: not avail for fed loans);

• Failure of plaintiff to prove ownership of promissory note or amount 
claimed to be owed (applies to both fed and private actions); 

• Failure of plaintiff to prove standing (chain of assignments);

• Standard contract defenses (fraud, mistake, etc. – but infancy is not 
a defense to fed loan) 
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Servicemembers Civil Relief Act / SCRA
and Student Loans
• 6% per yr interest-rate limit available for federal and 

private student loans (both borrowers and cosigners).

• Cap on loans obtained/disbursed prior to military service.

• Applies while on active duty. Does not postpone 
payments.

• SCRA interest-rate limit applies to assessment of service 
charges, renewal charges, fees, or any other charges.

• Any servicemember 'active duty' on or after 8/14/08, and 
who received a federal loan before entering military 
service. 

• https://studentaid.ed.gov/sa/sites/default/files/military
-student-loan-benefits.pdf
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Veterans’ Student Loan Relief Fund

• Provides grants of up to $5,000 to qualified vets who 
served in Iraq or Afghanistan post-9/11 and believe they 
have been misled by for-profit schools.

• Information available at http://iava.org/loan-relief.
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QUESTIONS?

Predatory For-Profit Schools Project

c/o NC Justice Center

PO Box 28068

Raleigh, NC 27611

Email: ForProfitScams@ncjustice.org

www.ncjustice.org/forprofitschools
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